
The Education 
of Thomas Clemson

Thomas Green Clemson was born into a wealthy Philadelphia family on  
July 1, 1807, the third of six children of Thomas Clemson III, a prosperous 
merchant, and Elizabeth Baker Clemson, the daughter of a prominent 
Episcopal family. 

Thomas’ father died when he was seven, but his guardian ensured that he 
received a superior education. From age 16 to 18, he attended the American 
Literary, Scientific and Military Academy in Norwich, Vt. (now Norwich 
University). 

Fluent in French and interested in science, particularly chemistry, Clemson 
traveled to Paris in 1826 to study at the Sorbonne College of the University 
of Paris and at the Royal School of Mines. He received a diploma as an assayer 
from the Royal Mint in Paris in 1831. 

In Paris, Clemson also developed a lasting interest in the arts and intellectual 
life. He began to paint and played the piano and violin.
 



A Momentous 
MArriage

Clemson returned to the United States in September 1831 and became a 
successful mining engineer throughout the country, as well as in Europe and 
Cuba. 

During a business trip to Washington, D.C., in the spring of 1838, Thomas 
Clemson met Anna Maria Calhoun, the daughter of S.C. Senator John C. 
Calhoun. The young lady of 21 and the scientist who was 10 years older were 
married in the parlor at Fort Hill, her father’s home near Pendleton, S.C., on 
Nov. 13, 1838. 

The Clemsons began their 36-year marriage living in Philadelphia and at Fort 
Hill, where three of their four children were born. Their first daughter died at 
age three weeks. The next two children, John Calhoun and Floride Elizabeth, 
lived to adulthood. Their third daughter, Cornelia, died of scarlet fever at age 
three while the family lived in Maryland.



THE BELGIAN
DIPLOMAT

In 1844, U.S. Secretary of State John C. Calhoun arranged for his son-in-law 
to be appointed chargé d’affaires to King Leopold’s Court in Belgium. His most 
important diplomatic task was negotiating a treaty of commerce, which was 
ratified in July 1846. The Clemsons lived in Belgium until the spring of 1851, a 
year after Calhoun’s death. 

Clemson continued to pursue his interest in art while in Belgium. He copied in 
oil works in King Leopold’s collection of paintings in the Royal Art Galleries 
and collected a number of paintings, now part of the Fort Hill art collection. 

The king awarded Clemson the Order of Leopold medal in 1860 when 
Clemson returned to Europe for an agricultural conference.



THE 
AGRICULTURALIST

During his diplomatic career, Clemson remained interested in science and 
agriculture, studying farming methods and conditions in Europe. After 
returning to the United States in 1851, he purchased a 100-acre farm called 
“The Home” in Maryland, where he conducted agricultural experiments and 
published in agricultural journals and magazines. 

Clemson also attended meetings of the Maryland Agricultural Society and 
the U.S. Agricultural Society and supported efforts to establish the Maryland 
Agricultural College (now the University of Maryland). He also influenced the 
first college land-grant bill introduced by Representative Justin Smith Morrill 
of Vermont in December 1857. In 1859, Clemson was invited to deliver 
scientific lectures at the Smithsonian Institution.

Clemson was appointed superintendent of agricultural affairs under the Patent 
Office on Feb. 3, 1860. He submitted a plan to create a separate national 
agricultural bureau and traveled to Europe for several months to collect seeds 
and cuttings. When he returned, conflict was increasing between Northern 
and Southern states. On March 9, 1861, Clemson resigned his post. 



FROM 
THE ASHES

Thomas Clemson left for the South in June 1861 with his son Calhoun, who 
enlisted in the Confederate army. Clemson lived with his mother-in-law in 
Pendleton until he offered his services to the Confederate government in 
Richmond, Va., in May 1863 at age 55. Assigned to the Nitre and Mining 
Bureau, Trans-Mississippi Department, he worked in Louisiana and Texas. 
After the war, Thomas and Calhoun rejoined the family in Pendleton. 

The Clemsons tried to help their neighbors, who faced poverty and fears about 
the future. Thomas joined the Pendleton Farmers’ Society and served as vice 
president from 1867 to 1868 and president from 1868 to 1869. He encouraged 
the society to support an agricultural and mechanical college for South 
Carolina.

Thomas and Anna moved back to Fort Hill in 1872, despondent over the 
deaths of their two children, Floride and John Calhoun, who died the year 
before, only 17 days apart. Anna encouraged her husband to continue his 
dream of founding a college, and they decided to use the Fort Hill estate to 
establish the campus. 



THE VISIONARY

When Anna died of a heart attack at age 58 in 1875, she left the Fort Hill 
estate to her husband with the understanding that it would be used for the 
college they envisioned. Thomas Clemson continued to solicit support for a 
college and began formalizing his plans to leave Fort Hill to the state for the 
establishment of an agricultural institution.  

In his later years, Clemson also worked to preserve the legacy of his father-in-
law, John C. Calhoun. He commissioned a biography of Calhoun and opened 
the Fort Hill home to tourists interested in the S.C. statesman.

In addition, he managed the Fort Hill farm and his financial affairs, 
corresponding with several advisers. He also kept a regular correspondence 
with his granddaughter, Floride Elizabeth Lee, who lived in New York. 



FROM DREAM
TO REALITY

Thomas Clemson died on April 6, 1888. His will gave to the state of South 
Carolina most of his estate, 814 acres of land and a considerable sum of 
personal assets, today valued at more than $1,600,000, for the establishment 
of a “high seminary of learning.” The governor of South Carolina signed a 
bill in 1889 accepting these gifts according to Clemson’s will, and Clemson 
Agricultural College officially opened its doors to students in 1893.



THOMAS CLEMSON: FROM PHILADELPHIA 
TO SOUTH CAROLINA PLANTATION 
Thomas Green Clemson was a native of Philadelphia, 
one of the main hubs of the abolitionist movement 
of the 1800s, who eventually married into the large 
slaveholding family of John C. Calhoun.

Upon moving to Fort Hill as a newlywed, Clemson 
kept Calhoun apprised of crops, weather and illnesses 
of both family members and the enslaved. During 
his fi rst winter at Fort Hill, Clemson detailed the 
Christmas celebrations of the enslaved community. 

In 1843, Clemson bought the Canebrake property 
near present-day Saluda, S.C., and, at the 
encouragement of his father-in-law, purchased 
enslaved African-Americans from Anna’s cousin John 
Ewing Colhoun, Jr. Later, Clemson purchased Charles, 
Spencer and Jack in Charleston for around $1,700. 
William was the enslaved carpenter in charge of all 
work on the Clemsons’ Canebrake home.   

Clemson was an absentee planter at Canebrake 
due to his diplomatic post in Belgium. In his 1845 
personal correspondence with his father-in-law, 
Clemson explained that 24 of his slaves were able to 
work and the other 13 were children. He shared the 
names of the enslaved adults, along with anecdotal 
information about their skills and other information 
he found pertinent in relation to their value. In those 
letters, Clemson would contemplate selling or renting 
the enslaved at Canebrake. 

In 1850, Clemson sold Canebrake Plantation. At the 
time of the sale, Clemson had accumulated some 50 
individuals as slaves.
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SCIENTIST SOLDIER
LT. THOMAS G. CLEMSON — 
CONFEDERATE STATES OF 
AMERICA
Thomas Green Clemson enlisted 
in the Confederate Army on May 
7, 1863, at the age of 54. He was 
assigned to the Army of the Trans-
Mississippi Department prior to the 
Battle of Gettysburg. 

His service with the Confederacy 
was as a scientist-soldier in charge 
of the nitrate mines in Arkansas 
and Texas. Those mines were 
used almost exclusively for the 
production of explosives in the war 
effort. 

Clemson’s son, John Calhoun 
Clemson, was also in the Trans-
Mississippi Department as a 
captain when he was captured in 
Bolivar, Mississippi, on September 
9, 1863. Calhoun Clemson was 
held in a prisoner-of-war camp at 
Johnson’s Island on Lake Erie in 
Ohio.

Following the Civil War, Thomas 
Clemson was surrendered and 
paroled on June 9, 1865, in 
Shreveport, Louisiana. Nearly 
a year later, on May 18, 1866, 
Clemson was pardoned by 
President Andrew Johnson. 
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RECONSTRUCTION AT FORT HILL 
(1866-1871)
Following Thomas Clemson’s 
pardon by Andrew Johnson in 1866, 
the former Confederate soldier 
found Reconstruction challenging, 
so much so, that he dropped out 
of the Pendleton Farmers Society 
and openly criticized the South 
in letters. “Look at the late war 
conceived in arrogance, matured 
in ignorance, and delivered in 
imbecility.”

Between 1868 and 1871, Clemson 
acted on behalf of the estate of 
his mother-in-law, Floride Calhoun, 
and signed multiple contracts with 
freedmen and freedwomen. These 
employees of Fort Hill would sign 
contracts spelling out anywhere 
from 10-15 articles of agreement. 
Among documented agreements 
were: “not keep fi re arms or deadly 
weapons,” “no arduous spirits” and 
“not … invite visitors, nor leave 
the premises during work hours 
without … written consent.”

These free persons of color were 
contractually bound to the property 
owner as domestics, day laborers, 
tenant farmers or sharecroppers.
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